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Our Ancestors  

If you could see your ancestors   
All standing in a row   

Would you be proud of them or not   
Or don't you really know?   

Some strange discoveries are made   
In climbing family trees   

And some of them you know, do not   
Particularly please.   

If you could see your ancestors   

All standing in a row,   
There might be some of them perhaps   
You wouldn't care to know.   

But there's another question, which   
Requires a different view.   
IF you could meet your ancestors   

Would they be proud of YOU?   

Author Unknown  

(Submitted by Leanne Balfour) 
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A Word from the Presidenté 
 

By Doreen Schank 
 
Like all branches, we have been very busy since the last report!  Our April meeting 
featured a webinar from Roots Tech 2013 ς άDƻƻƎƭŜ {ŜŀǊŎƘΧŀƴŘ .ŜȅƻƴŘέΦ Lǘ ǿŜƴǘ 
over very well; we will definitely be doing more webinars in the future. Five of our 
members were able to attend the April Conference in Edmonton. All were very 
impressed with the sessions and left with a great deal of information, now just to 
find the time to implement it all.  Our society is very proud to have received the 
2012 Newsletter award for our Saamis Seeker. A great deal of thanks to our editor, 
Leanne Balfour, who works tirelessly seeking out information and putting together 
a great read.   
 
May 1 was a busy day for our society. We sponsored a seminar at the Medicine Hat 
ƭƛōǊŀǊȅΦ WƻƘƴ !ƭǘƘƻǳǎŜ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ά.ǳǘ L !Ƴ bƻǘ ŀ ²ǊƛǘŜǊέΦ  Following our evening 
ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎΣ ƘŜ ŀƭǎƻ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ά¢ƘŜ /ƘŀƴƎƛƴƎ aŀǇ ƻŦ 9ǳǊƻǇŜέΦ .ƻǘƘ were very well 
received by members and community.  We were very pleased to have him as a 
speaker.  
 
!ǎ ǘƘƛǎ ƛǎ ƻǳǊ ǎƻŎƛŜǘȅΩǎ орth anniversary, we felt that this would be a great 
opportunity to promote our organization, showcase our library, attract new 
members and give us a higher profile in the community. We felt an open house 
would be a great way to accomplish our goals.  As Church records of baptism, 
marriage, and burial are an important source of genealogical information, we have 
extended invitations to all congregations.  We are looking forward to showcasing 
our branch to our community on June 2nd.  
 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

*** Stay Tuned  : ***  

This summer, ñWho Do You Think You Are?ò 
has been picked up by The Learning Channel, and 
will be airing eight new episodes beginning on July 
23rd.  Filming is currently underway; celebrities 
searching out their family history are to include 
Christina Applegate and Cindy Crawford. 
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From the EditEH§I $;IA« 
A huge THANK YOU to all of our members for your continued great 
submissions ς hard work shall yield rewards, and we are thrilled to 
have been awarded the Kenneth Young Newsletter Award for 2012 
in the category of Best Overall Newsletter at the AGS Conference in 
Edmonton in April!  Also, Thank you to Florence Fontaine, who 

continues to distribute paper and electronic copies of our publication far and wide.  Without 
CƭƻǊŜƴŎŜΩǎ ŘƛƭƛƎŜƴŎŜΣ ƻǳǊ ǇǳōƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ǿƻǳƭŘƴΩǘ ōŜ ƎŜǘǘƛƴƎ ƻǳǘ ǘƻ ƻǳǊ ǊŜŀŘŜǊǎΦ    
 
¢Ƙƛǎ ƛǎǎǳŜΣ ǿŜ ƘŀǾŜ Ƴŀƴȅ ƎǊŜŀǘ ǎǳōƳƛǎǎƛƻƴǎΧ ! ŎƻƳƳƻƴ ǘƘǊŜŀŘ ǎŜŜƳǎ ǘƻ ōŜ ǘƘŜ ƛƳǇƻǊǘŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ 
ǘƘŜ ǿǊƛǘǘŜƴ ǿƻǊŘΦ  άaŜƳƻǊƛŜǎέΣ ŦǊƻƳ .Ǌƛŀƴ YƻƴǊŀŘΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ŜȄŎŜǊǇǘǎ ŦǊƻƳ Ƙƛǎ ƎǊŜŀǘ !ǳƴǘΩǎ ǿƻǊŘǎ 
that were recorded decades earlier.  Teresa Parasynchuk gives us a great overview of her trip on 
the Danube, and Mel Bender provides us some history of our own branch in honor of its 35th 
Anniversary.  (Be sure to check out the photos of our Anniversary Celebration, as well.)  This 
month, we also thank our members Florence Fontaine, Kathleen Tarabas, and Clarence Janke for 
sharing their interests.  A couple of our Member Spotlights also reflect on ǘƘŜ ǿǊƛǘŜǊΩǎ ƭƛŦŜ 
experiences.  Just as we find the words of our ancestors so valuable, these current writings will be 
genealogically relevant and searchable in the future.  The Saamis Seeker is placed in numerous 
repositories throughout Canada and the USA, including the Family History Library in Salt Lake 
City, and the Allen County Public Library in Fort Wayne, Indiana.  Be mindful that you, too, are an 
important member of your family tree, and someday, your future genealogist family members 
will want to know about you, and will look upon your writings in these repositories as a treasured 
resource. 
 
This issue, I would like to leave you with my newest-found favorite quote which I apply to my 
genealogical endeavors: 
 

 òSometimes I lie awake at night, and ask, 'Where have I 

gone wrong?' Then a voice says to me, 'This is going to 
take more than one  night.'ó  

- Charles M. Schultz, Cartoonist (Peanuts/Charlie Brown) 1922 -2000  

 
Though we are driven to find out about our past, and though a myriad of resources await, it is not 
always easy going.  But perseverance generally pays off.  Once we set aside our frustrations, and 
take ahold of quiet resolve, and methodical recording and research, quite often we will be 
rewarded with a new bit of information that will make all the difference.  
 
As we set out on our summer adventures and quests, I would like to wish everyone Happy 
Searching!  Looking forward to hearing all of your great experiences when we resume in the fall!  
-lb 

 
 

http://www.google.ca/imgres?q=desk+free+clipart&hl=en&biw=1280&bih=577&tbm=isch&tbnid=lqXwN3A_qqK9DM:&imgrefurl=http://www.clker.com/clipart-13463.html&docid=piC7SZBpnREREM&imgurl=http://www.clker.com/cliparts/f/6/1/d/1197091602968572985johnny_automatic_desk_scene.svg.hi.png&w=600&h=410&ei=FnsLT53EHaGhiQLz_f2hBA&zoom=1
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Our members would like to announce our new 2013 Executive 
Committee members elected earlier this spring - Thank you for 
volunteering - Member Involvement makes our Society 
possible! 

 

Doreen Schank  has taken on the position of President with gusto!  In her recent 

involvement with the society, she has also been involved with the Library Committee and the 35th 
Anniversary Celebration Committee.  
 

Betty Padfield , our new VP, is a long-term member and has held various positions, 
including President, Library Committee and Ancestor Indexing. 
 

Kathleen Tarabas , a new member, became our Secretary ς get to know Kathleen 

in her Member Spotlight article in this issue. Thank you for jumping right in and getting involved!  
(But we are sad to say goodbye so soon, as circumstances require she give up her positioƴΧ ²Ŝ 
wish you all the best, Kathleen!) 
 

Kathy Gleisner , another long-term member, has graciously taken on the position of 
Treasurer once again.  Kathy also looks after our Casino dealings, and is Coordinator for our 
Queries Committee. 

 

²ƘŀǘΩǎ bŜǿ Lƴ ¢ƘŜ Library! 
By Faye Knoblick 

 

New and donated books that have been added to our library: 
 

Destination Canada, A Genealogical Guide to Immigration Records by Dave Obee 
¢ƘŜ DŜƴŜŀƭƻƎƛǎǘΩǎ LƴǘŜǊƴŜǘ by Peter Christian 
How to Find Your Family History in Newspapers by Lisa Louise Cooke 
Turn Your iPad Into A Genealogy Powerhouse by Lisa Louise Cooke 
The Atlantic Canadians 1600 to 1900 ς index of people who lived in Atlantic Canada 
Germans to America ς list of passengers arriving at U.S. Ports 
A Dictionary of Old Trades, Titles & Occupations ς pertains to the British Isles 
Genealogical Standards of Evidence, A Guide for Family Historians by B. Merriman 
Conserving, Preserving & Restoring Your Heritage by Kennis Kim 
Publish Your Family History by S. Yates/G. Ioannou 
¢ƘŜ wŜǎŜŀǊŎƘŜǊΩǎ DǳƛŘŜ ǘƻ !ƳŜǊƛŎŀƴ DŜƴŜŀƭƻƎȅ by Val Greenwood 
 

Russian Roots, The Schafers From Crimea ς family history 
 

Shortgrass Country ς Foremost, AB area history 
Wagons to Wings ς Warner, AB area history 
The Sunny Side of the Neutrals ς Consort, AB area history 
Rolling Hills & Whispering Pines ς Westlock County, AB area history 
Craik, SK...the friendliest place by a dam site... ς area history 
Portrait of An Era ς aerial photography of the prairie provinces 
Seventy-Five Years Along the Red Deer River ς area history 
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Informative articles can be found in the following newsletters: 
 

Alberta 
 

Red Deer Branch ς The Tree Climber ς March 2013 
-Story of William & Elizabeth (Watson) Snell living in North Red Deer in 1913, both were born in England 
before coming as children to Ontario, Canada 
 
Saskatchewan 
 

Regina Branch ς Now & Then ς Nov/Dec 2012 
-ΨtƛŎǘǳǊŜ tŜǊŦŜŎǘΩ -  ƎƻƻŘ ŀǊǘƛŎƭŜ ƻƴ ǿƘŀǘ ǘƻ Řƻ ǿƛǘƘ ƻǳǊ ΨǎǘŀǎƘŜŘΩ ǇƘƻǘƻǎΗ 
 
Manitoba 
 

Manitoba Genealogical Society ς Generations ς Dec 2012 
-If you have settlers in the Selkirk/Red River Valley areas ς this issue has several articles of interest! 
 
Ontario 
 

Ottawa Branch ς The Ottawa Genealogist ς Jan/Mar 2013 
-Sarah Belding/Beldin/Belden/alias Belvin or Dekdubsa, wife of Benjamin Burt, are you related? 
 

Oxford County Branch ς The Tracer ς Feb 2013 
-Merchants, Manufacturers & Trades in Oxford County in 1877, three pages of names & occupations 
 

Norfolk County ς Norfolks ς Feb 2013 
 -bƻǊŦƻƭƪ hƭŘ .ƻȅǎΩ wŜǳƴƛƻƴ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ {ƛƳŎƻŜ wŜŦƻǊƳŜǊ ƴŜǿǎǇŀǇŜǊ ŘŀǘŜŘ aŀȅ уΣ мфнпΤ о ǇŀƎŜǎ ƻŦ ƴŀƳŜǎ 
& addresses 
 

Waterloo Region ς Our Waterloo Kin ς Feb 2013 
-An extensive list of cemetery publications available, plus the price, from the Waterloo Region Branch e.g. 
Wellesley Twp., City of Kitchener, City of Waterloo, etc. 
 

Leeds & Grenville Branch ς News & Views ς Jan/Feb 2013 
-The Israel Olmstead Family Bible Records, info on William McCaw & Rebecca Edmunds 
 

Perth County ς Perth County Profiles ς Feb 2013 
-Info re immigrants coming through Castle Garden & Ellis Island, New York City 
 

Bruce & Grey Branch -  BGOGS ς Feb 2013 
-Celebrating the Lewis Family in Saskatchewan (and Bruce County) 
-Breaking Down Brick Walls - some helpful hints 
 

Sault Ste. Marie Branch ς Sault Channels ς March 2013-Obituaries for Ferdinand Beilhartz (1855-1947, 
born in Prussia), Samuel Cooper (1864-1938, born in England) and Cornelius (Neil) Figures (1875-1936, 
born in England) 

~ ~ ~ Genealogy ð Life In the Past Lane ~ ~ ~  
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~ Past Practices ~  
By Eleanor Kreiser  

 
Are there any weird, perhaps dangerous practices in your family history?  
Sometimes it seems a wonder that past generations survived give the things we 
used to do, even until recently.  

 
*When we were growing up in the 50s and the flies were bad in the house, we 
would close the windows and doors, put some DDT in the little sprayer and give 
the entire house a good spraying.  Then we would go outside for about 20 

minutes, and return to sweep up the dozens of dying flies that were whirling on 
the floor on their backs.  The house didnõt smell great, but it sure was satisfying 

to dump that dustpan -full of bluebottles in the cookstove.  A friend told me 
recently that her dad would spray just befor e they left for church, and they 
would sweep up the remains when they returned home.  

One of the dandy little sprayers just sold on Etsy:  
http://www.etsy.com/listing/6 4935309/vintage -pump -sprayer -fly -sprayer -bug  

 
*Did you get into the chemical cupboard in high school and play with the 
mercury?  We did.  We learned much of the properties of the only liquid metal, 

as we poked it to disperse it into myriad little droplets,  covered our rings with it, 
and turned pennies temporarily into ôsilverõ coins.  If our little droplet smashed 
to the floor, we learned how to ôherdõ it into a big droplet, and swooped it onto a 

piece of paper to retrieve it.   
Properties and hazards of me rcury:  

http://www.uwm.edu.pl/kchem/mercury/mercury.html  

 
*Perhaps 10 years ago, when the local pharmacy held a disposal event so people 

could take in old chemicals and drugs, I took them in a  tiny bottle of mercury I 
had saved from high school 40 years before, and a little cardboard tin of Paris 
Green that the former owner of our home had used to kill potato beetles.  Pretty 

colour, that stuff.  I found the exact can on the computer:  
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Paris_Green.JPG  

 
*A neighbor came to us about 30 years ago, to ask us to save a few cups of ôfirst 
milkõ ð colostrum - for him when our milk cow calved.  He said he soaked 

buckshot (lead pellets) in it, and drank it as a spring tonic.  He had done this for 
years, as his family believed it was a healthy thing to do.  This gentleman is now 

in his mid -eighties, is never sick, and has all his faculties about him.     
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Colostrum  

 
I wonõt go so far as to say that DDT, mercury, and lead are good for you, but we 

didnõt fear them like we do now.  Ignorance is indeed, bliss. 
  

http://www.etsy.com/listing/64935309/vintage-pump-sprayer-fly-sprayer-bug
http://www.uwm.edu.pl/kchem/mercury/mercury.html
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Paris_Green.JPG
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Colostrum
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Found Some Roots In The Seeker 
by Clarence Janke In Reply To Liam HobbesΩ Article 

ΨtƻŎƪŜǘǎ Cǳƭƭ ƻŦ tƻǎƛŜǎΩ 
 

Now I have a comment to make re an article in the February, 2013 issue of the Saamis Seeker, this re: 
άtƻŎƪŜǘǎ Cǳƭƭ hŦ tƻǎƛŜǎέ written by Liam Hobbes. I am sorry that I did not get to know Liam personally; 
he has come after my time as an active member at the Medicine Hat Society. Firstly, though, I would 
like to thank Liam through this article for contributing to our Seeker. Leanne and Florence work so 
tirelessly to put these issues together and we appreciate some help from outside the local area 
contributing as Liam has, and I, for one would like to thank him for his efforts in helping our Society.  
 
You see, the mother in this story, Maria Schneider born Beierbach, was Ƴȅ ƳƻǘƘŜǊΩǎ ŀǳƴǘΣ ǘƘŜ ŦŀǘƘŜǊ 
/ƘǊƛǎǘƛŀƴ {ŎƘƴŜƛŘŜǊ ōŜƛƴƎ aŀǊƛŀΩǎ ƘǳǎōŀƴŘΦ aȅ ƳƻǘƘŜǊ ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ƘŜǊ ŀǎ ƘŜǊ aŀǊȅ .ŀǎŜƭŜΣ ƻǊ aŀǊȅ 
Boss, which is German for Aunt Mary or Auntie Mary, of course me in my German family upbringing 
was not up on English wordings in those very younger days of mine. I took it for Mary, being quite 
stern sounding, was Mary, The Boss. Of course, my Mother also referred to Chris as Christian Fedder 
(German for Uncle), as Chris was rather stout at least around the middle, I took that to mean 
Christian, the Fat One.  
 
I remember ever so vaguely this elderly couple coming to visit us on a Sunday once or twice per 
summer over several years, this was about in the 1940's, maybe even late 1930's when I was just 
starting school, perhaps even prior to my school days as well as later to near the fifties. I was certainly 
just a kid. I do remember him bring us fresh garden produce from his garden on Queen Street in 
Medicine Hat. There was never any daughter with them as she may have been away from home by 
ǘƘŀǘ ǘƛƳŜΦ IŜΣ /ƘǊƛǎ ǿŀǎ ŀ ǎƻǊǘ ƻŦ Ƨƻƭƭȅ ƻƭŘ Ǝǳȅ ǘƘƻǳƎƘ ŀǎ ŀ ƪƛŘ L ŘƛŘƴΩǘ ƭƛƪŜ ƘƛƳ - he drove over an 
inflated rubber ball that I had with the car tire and it was never the same after (stayed flat). Funny 
how at this age some 70 years later I still do remember that when I can't remember what I did 
yesterday. I do also remember that Maria did not speak much and seems my mother said she was a 
bit funny, she may have been getting into dementia or whatever when I got to know her. 
 
The second wife for Chris Schneider, as mentioned in the obit in the article, Katherina, was a widow of 
a Rudolph Deering from the Norton area south of Medicine Hat who had passed away suddenly in 
ŀōƻǳǘ мфпрΦ ¢ƘƻǳƎƘ L ƪƴƻǿ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΣ L ŎŀƴΩǘ ǊŜƭŀǘŜ ƳǳŎƘ ŀǎ Ƴƻǎǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŀǘ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ had moved away 
from the area in their later years before my time of getting out and about. I am going to try to find 
whatever happened to this Olga Schneider, though.  I know she was married to a man by the name 
Alexander here in Medicine Hat, and also had ŀ ŘŀǳƎƘǘŜǊ ǿƛǘƘ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘŜǊΣ ōǳǘ ŘƻƴΩǘ ōŜƭƛŜǾŜ hƭƎŀ 
stayed in Medicine Hat for long. I find Alexander buried in Hillside and have an obit for him, but not 
Olga, though have done only limited research on this family for now. I did find too, from a reliable 
source, that she was divorced from Alexander. In the obit for her Mother, Maria Schneider nee 
Beierbach, as well as for her father, Christian, she was living in Vancouver under the name of Mrs. R. 
Jackson, assumed her husband. An obit for Maria is included further on in this article. Apparently 
though, Olga and Alexander had one daughter, Eileen, who went on to be married to a David of 
Medicine Hat.  She, too, is buried in Hillside so must have spent her life in Medicine Hat. Eileen and 
David had two children, son Brian and daughter, Brenda, who married someone with the last name of 
Roth. So that covers that family to as far as I can tell you at the present. 
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So, Liam, this is where I find this relative of mine, through the Saamis Seeker, and I must thank you 
for revealing all that to me through your article. Another person, Ferdinand Schwab, well known to 
our society researched and wrote the family tree for the Beierbach family in book form, and did an 
excellent job.  There was little to follow up on, so I have never heavily researched on this family 
personally, but this gives me more incentive to again delve deeper into that branch of family history. 
 
I am listing first the Death Notice for Maria Schneider in the Medicine Hat News of Aug.30, 1951: 
 
SCHNEIDERς Died in Camrose, Alta., on Aug. 29, 1951, Mrs. Mary Schneider, aged 69 years, beloved 
wife of Christian Schneider of 953 Queen St.  Rev. R. Senft will conduct Services from the Evangelical 
Church on Allowance Ave. Saturday afternoon at 2 o'clock. Internment to follow in Hillside 
Cemetery. Arrangements are in charge of the Pattison Funeral Home. 
 
Listing next the Obituary as well as the Card of Thanks in the Medicine Hat News of Sept. 5, 1951: 
 
Last Respects Paid Mrs. Mary Schneider 
Funeral services for Mrs. Mary Schneider were held on Saturday afternoon from the Evangelical 
Church, Allowance Avenue. A large gathering of friends attended to pay their respects. Pallbearers 
were Fred Heidinger, Allan Sturm, August Grussie, Henry Beierbach, John Seitz and Charlie Nittel. 
Rev. S. Senft conducted the service. Internment was made in Hillside Cemetery. 
Mrs. Mary Schneider was born in Bessarabia, South Russia, on August 16, 1882. She came to Canada 
in 1903 to the Josephberg district. In 1904 she married Christian Schneider. They have since made 
their home in Medicine Hat.  For the past 12 years Mrs. Schneider has had failing health. 
Surviving are: her husband, Christian; one daughter, Olga (Mrs. R. Jackson) of Vancouver; three 
sisters, Miss Beierbach of Pasadena, Calif., Mrs. Martha Koenig of Leader, Sask., Mrs. Christina 
Grussie of Medicine Hat, and three brothers, Gordon Beierbach of Walsh, Adolph Beierbach of 
Medicine Hat and Emanuel Beierbach of Medicine Hat. 
 
Card Of Thanks 
Mr. Christian Schneider and family 
wish to thank their friends and 
neighbors for the many kind 
expressions of sympathy shown 
and for the beautiful flowers sent 
during our recent sad 
bereavement. 
 
 
(At right:  Grave marker for 
Christian and Maria Schneider in 
Hillside Cemetery.  Photo by 
Leanne Balfour) 
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Member Spotlights 
Clarence Janke 
 

I was born in the Medicine Hat General Hospital on April 25, 1934 to 
ANDREW & SALLY JANKE. We lived on a farm 12 miles south of Walsh, 
AB in what was known as the Graburn district. The home quarter had 
been home-steaded by my Dad's Uncle JAKOB JANKE earlier, after the 
Janke family had immigrated from Katzbach, Bessarabia, in South 
Russia in May of 1910. This was only a short mile from my Grandfather 
Janke's Homestead which received a 100 Years in Canada plaque a 
couple or so years ago. That quarter-section of homestead is still being 
farmed by the grandson & great-grandson. My Dad, Andrew, was only 
eight months of age when they immigrated to Canada. My Mom was 22 
years old when she, with her father, step-mother and four sisters, came 
to Walsh, AB in 1927 from Sofiewka, Roumania, also in South Russia. So 
I am Germans from Russia, both sides. 
 

Growing up as an only child could perhaps be construed as being lonely with one's parents being kept 
busy keeping up the farm, but I couldn't recall it as having ever been lonely whatsoever. There seemed 
always something to play with in the open spaces on a farm and you made your own amusement. 
Certainly in those years of hard times there were no store-bought toys, but never having had them, 
never missed them.  I remember picking up animal bones of various sizes to play with, and with the 
different sizes of bones, having herds of horses, cows, calves, etc., as playthings, moving them from 
field to field. I remember it as pleasant playtime, not a care in the world. Our farm yard was in a creek 
bottom.  In those early days there was a great deal of rose bushes plus other brush growing there that I 
would play in for hours. When my Mother came looking for me she would give a holler and watch for 
where the dogs came out of the brush - likely I would come out after. We always had a couple of dogs 
around and these would be my playmates and constant companions. 
  

Next, around 1940 came the school days, such glorious days. I began school in April after Easter 
Holidays until the end of the school year; this was known as Baby Class, a sort of glorified Kindergarten. 
My first school was Graburn, some three miles from home, mostly on flatland and some graded roads 
so walking was quite easy. Having lived sort of a sheltered life, I knew hardly a soul in the school I went 
to. Another boy, George, began school the same day I did and we were school buddies grade after 
grade for eight years until I dropped out of school, after which we still were lifelong friends. Growing 
up in a German speaking home, I had to come to terms with English words, which was not easy. There 
were quite a number of kids in this first school - the older boys shunned us beginners and we were 
mostly left alone - except when we were needed to pull scoop shovels to make a cave in loose dirt that 
had blown off the farmers field in the spring. We became their teams of work horses for that project; it 
was never completed. During the summer months, the school board decided to move a couple of 
schools to accommodate area population changes.  In the fall I went to a new school, McKay Creek, 
which meant coming off flatland walking to a trail of coulees and creeks. This was truly a route of uphill 
both ways, the path I wore through the grass and brush is still possibly visible. Over the eight years that 
I attended school at McKay Creek, there were never more than a dozen pupils - even as low as eight - 
so we became a pretty close-knit group. Most of us stayed in the area and have remained good friends 
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and neighbours throughout our lifetimes. As to if there was any bullying in our school days - I can only 
recall that there was a rather big guy, Ronnie, who grew up in a rather rough home with several big 
brothers. Ronnie always threatened to choke George and me, now I know I was scared that he might 
do that. Whether that is termed bullying, I know not. But I have thought of that numerous times in the 
past few years, and Ronnie was the only problem that I can recall. A couple of brothers, Garry & 
Charles, as well as Dave, another older boy, protected us as if we were their brothers, or perhaps even 
better. So I do believe all goes back to the family living.  The kids knew they were poor but that they 
were loved and they all made a life for themselves with what little they had to begin with. None of 
ǘƘŜƳ ǿŜǊŜ ōǳƭƭȅƛƴƎ ƪƛŘǎ ŀƴŘ ŘƻƴΩǘ ōŜƭƛŜǾŜ ŀƴȅ ŜǾŜǊ ōŜŎŀƳŜ ǘƘŀǘ ǿŀȅ ƛƴ ƭŀǘŜǊ ƭƛŦŜΦ hƴŜ ƻŦ Ƴȅ ŦƻƴŘŜǎǘ 
and proudest memories of my school days was that despite the small number of students we had, we 
developed into quite a softball team winning the championship at the Schools Sports Day at Elkwater 
for three consecutive years. An awful lot of practice went with it, often times hours that should have 
been devoted to school work were instead spent on the ball diamond. Anyway it was more fun and 
none of us seem to have ever suffered from it.  
 

After completing my schooling through Grade 8, I began working on the farm with my parents. 
Together we increased the size of the farm gradually going from a mixed farming operation to grain 
farming and after acquiring more grazing land on the south side of the Hills, built the cow-herd up to 
about 150 head. Cattle became an enjoyable life to me - sometimes the labour part seemed like a 
never-ending vicious circle of years, but in the long run, the fruits of the labour were well worthwhile. I 
worked at cattle sales at the Walsh Cattle Sales Yards for some thirty years which was a very enjoyable 
experience. There, too, the hours seemed never ending, but the rewards were in the experiences 
gained and the never to be forgotten comradeship that I attained throughout those many years. 
 

I continued farming with my parents until 1982 when they retired to Medicine Hat. In October of that 
year I was married to Phyllis Perra Glynn. Phyllis was born and raised 
on a farm near Veteran, Alberta which is where she received her 
education. After completing school, she left home, worked at several 
jobs and then came to the Warner area of southern Alberta in 1947, 
where she was married and with her husband operated a General 
Store in Warner for 25 years, moving later to Lethbridge and then to 
Nobleford. Phyllis has two sons and three daughters, so I have five 
step-children that I am pleased to call my family. 
 

After taking over the farm in 1982, Phyllis and I made several major changes, mostly to cut back on the 
labour intensive farm operations and to increase the aesthetics of the farm itself. We decreased the 
cattle herd from about 150 head to an easier to manage herd of about 25 Tarentaise-cross cows and 
sold the grazing land south of the Hills to a cousin. Also broke up most of the pastureland which we 
rented out as cropland to our neighbouring Colony and just farmed a couple of hundred acres of the 
previously cultivated land ourselves. We also put up a new home and set up our yard as we liked to see 
it. Although a lot of hard work had gone into it, when you stood back and smelled the roses so to 
speak, it gave one the feeling that you had lived a good and peaceful life in harmony with oneself and 
with those around you. I have been pleased to have been able to contribute my small part to the 
history of the hamlet of Walsh, the Cypress Hills, and the surrounding area. Though having lived in the 
area for some sixty-five years, I never could quite comprehend the diversity of the area as it is, until 
these later years when I could find that it is truly a different area to live in and enjoy. From the 
flatlands of the hamlet itself, to the rolling hills surrounding Walsh on all sides, and to the Cypress Hills 
in the not-so-distant south, there is indeed a great diversity, not only in the farming and ranching 
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aspects, but also in the people that originally settled the area and those people that continue to reside 
therein. Over the sixty five years that I have been a resident of the Walsh-Cypress Hills area, I have 
seen many changes - some good, some not so good - but despite all, the distinct diversity remains and 
hopefully that shall continue for all time. 
  
In 1992 we bought our retirement home in the ParkMeadows area of Medicine Hat.  Our bi-level was 
one of the first completed homes. Over the next few years we developed the yard the way we wanted 
it, and it was a pleasure for us to fix it up, grow grass, plant trees and shrubs as we wished over the 
next few years. We still used the farm as our main residence until 1997 when we moved in 
permanently and sold the farm in the spring of 1999. The year of 1999 was a particularly rough year for 
us as Phyllis developed cancer that required several months of basically living in Calgary for 
treatments. The hardship was all worthwhile, however, as Phyllis has remained cancer-free. Time was 
taking its toll on me, however, and as my walking abilities diminished a bi-level was no longer the 
answer. The yard work was also becoming too much so we decided a move for us was imminent. We 
settled on a Garden Home in Chartwell Gardens, and on July 25, 2012, moved in to our level playing 
field home with no steps, no yard to look after, no grass to cut, no snow to shovel. We still have our 
own home and our own privacy if we chose that way to go. 
  
So you may ask, how would I, a farm boy of the prairies for sixty-five years come up with genealogy as 
a hobby in my later years? We had sold the farm and no longer had need for farm accounting by 
computer. Besides, my computer business which I had begun in 1980 was now flocked with much 
competition so was no longer profitable without compromising product quality, which I did not want to 
do. Had not at that time ever been on to the internet as I had operated mostly from the rural area 
where extremely slow dial-ǳǇ ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƻƴƭȅ ƻǇǘƛƻƴΦ  {ƻ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŜŀǊƭȅ нлллΩǎ L ǿŀǎ ǊŜŀŘȅ ǘƻ ǎŜƭƭ Ƴȅ 
ŎƻƳǇǳǘŜǊ ŀƴŘ ǎƛǘ Řƻǿƴ ƛƴ ŀ ŎƻǊƴŜǊ ŀƴŘ ǊŜƭŀȄ ǿƛǘƘ ŀ ƎƻƻŘ ōƻƻƪ ƛƴ ƘŀƴŘ ŀƴŘ ƴƻǘƘƛƴƎ ōŜǘǘŜǊ ǘƻ ŘƻΦ ά¢ŀƪe 
ǳǇ ƎŜƴŜŀƭƻƎȅΣ ǘƘŀǘΩǎ ǿƘŀǘ LΩǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ŘƻƛƴƎΣέ ǎŀƛŘ Ƴȅ ƎƻƻŘ ōǳŘŘȅ .ƛƭƭΣ Ƴȅ ŎƻƳǇǳǘŜǊ ƎǳǊǳΦ IŜ ǿŀǎ ŀ ǎŜƭŦ-
taught computer expert close to my age who could setup and repair any computer in short order. 
 
¢ƘǳǎΣ L ǘƻƻƪ ǳǇ ƎŜƴŜŀƭƻƎȅΦ CƛǊǎǘ L ǘƻƻƪ ƻƴ tƘȅƭƭƛǎΩ ǇŀǊŜƴǘǎΣ PERRA & ANDERSON. Taking on Anderson as 
a first project was an eye-opener, but interesting. I did not realize that there were that many 
Andersons in all of this country of Canada, but traced them from Scotland to Ontario and finally 
Alberta. Perra(s) was a different challenge, being French, however without any knowledge of even the 
ƭŀƴƎǳŀƎŜ ǎƻƻƴ ŦƻǳƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ tŜǊǊŀǎ ŎŀƳŜ ǘƻ vǳŜōŜŎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŜŀǊƭȅ мсллΩǎΣ ŀƴŘ ŜƭŜǾŜƴ ƎŜƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ƭŀǘŜǊ 
the family was spread out to into Alberta and many points elsewhere. Then worked on family roots on 
tƘȅƭΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ƘǳǎōŀƴŘΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ŦƻǊ Ƴȅ ǎǘŜǇŎƘƛƭŘǊŜƴ ǘƻ ǘǊŀŎŜ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ǘǊŜŜ ōŀŎƪ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜ 
generations. Family lines I worked on were GLYNN from Wales to Hazel Green, Wisconsin to Warner, 
AB; WELTER from Germany to Menominee, Illinois to Hazel Green, Wisconsin and again to Warner; 
TENNEY from Switzerland to Minnesota also to Warner and lastly; VOSS from Germany to St. Louis, 
Missouri to Minnesota to Warner. A lot of snooping had to be done and family secrets uncovered, but 
that is where challenge lies - to find something no one else has admitted to. It was during that time 
that I joined the Medicine Hat Branch of AGS, and after a year of finding my way, I mentioned to Mel 
ǘƘŀǘ L ǿƻǳƭŘƴΩǘ ƳƛƴŘ ƘŜƭǇƛƴƎ ǿƛǘƘ vǳŜǊƛŜǎΦ 9ƛƭŜŜƴ ǎŀƛŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƻ Řƻ ƎƻƻŘ ƎŜƴŜŀƭƻƎƛŎŀƭ ǊŜǎŜŀǊŎƘ L Ƴǳǎǘ 
have an inquisitive mind, and having been sort of snoopy all of my life, thought I might qualify. So 
Eileen took me under her wing and has taught me much about research.  I am forever indebted to her 
for opening up a very enjoyable part of my life to which, despite some physical impediments, I am still 
clinging to at the present. 
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Altogether for me, life has been anything but boring, and now moving up ever closer to my 
eightieth year continues to be so, a lifetime worth living to the fullest as best I am able. I regret 
that as I am writing this biography of mostly myself, my best and dearest friend in life, my wife 
Phyllis is in hospital having suffered a serious stroke, her second in two years and regret greatly 
that life can never be the same as it was. But must go on to the best of our abilities regardless of 
what happens next. Despite cruel blows when we least expect them, life has been good to us. 
 
 

Florence Fontaine 
 

I have been working on genealogy since 1998.  I work with my brother Alex on our research. 
 
My Mom passed away when I was two years old and my sister was one month old.  After a few 
ƳƻƴǘƘǎΣ Ƴȅ 5ŀŘΩǎ ōǊƻǘƘŜǊ ǘƻƻƪ ǳǎ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΦ   ay sister and I then had a family of three 
brothers and one sister. 
 
Alex and I are researching the following surnames: 
 
FONTAINE, JACQUE (1640-1692) France, son ETIENNE (1659 France - 1739 Quebec).  Immigrated 
ǘƻ ǘƘŜ LƭŜ ŘΩhǊƭŜŀƴǎΣ vǳŜōŜŎΦ 
 
JULIEN, MICHEL (1616 - ?) France, son JEAN (1639 France ς 1673 Quebec).  Immigrated to the 
[ŀΩ!ƴƎŜ-Gardien Montmorency, Quebec. 
 
KEITH, JOHN ς (Born ?, Scotland ς 1861 Ontario)   **ROAD BLOCK** John married SARAH 
JOHNSTONE (b.1802 Argylshire, Scotland, d. 25 Feb 1881 Culross Township, Bruce County, ON.  
John & Sarah Keith had the following children:  Malcolm, Mary, John, Ann, Christina, & Neil. 
 
BORTON, ELIZABETH VICTORIA - Birth: 09 Mar 1868 in Pilkington Tp, Wellington Co, ON.  Death: 
22 Jun 1946 in Culross Tp, Bruce Co, ON.  Daughter of Edmund Borton & Esther Sherrington.  
Elizabeth m. DONALD KEITH & had the following children:  Stewart, Charles, Fred, John & 
Beatrice. 
 
PEDERSEN, ANDERS - (1813 Denmark - ? Minnesota)  Immigrated to Sleepy Eye, Redwood Co., 
Minnesota in 1880.  Son PETER (1854 Denmark ς мфпм .ǊƛǘƛǎƘ /ƻƭǳƳōƛŀύΦ  !ǘ ǘƘŜ ǘƛƳŜ ƻŦ tŜǘŜǊΩǎ 
ōƛǊǘƘΣ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ŀ ŎǳǎǘƻƳ ǘƻ ŀŘŘ άǎƻƴέ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ƴŀƳŜ - ǘƘǳǎ ά!ƴŘŜǊǎέ ōŜŎŀƳŜ ά!ƴŘŜǊǎƻƴέΦ 
 
GERARD, FORTUNATE - (1850 Belgium ς 1939 Belgium), son JULES (1880 Belgium ς 1949 
Saskatchewan).  Immigrated to Saskatchewan 1909. 
 
TABART, JOSUE - (1847 Belgium ς 1911 Belgium); daughter ELVIRE (1889 ς 1970 Saskatchewan). 
Immigrated to Saskatchewan in 1912. 
 
Please contact me at ffontain@telusplanet.net if you have any information on the above names. 
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Kathleen Tarabas (nee Griggs)  
 

 It all started when I was made aware that I was not the be all and end 
all within my family, that there were others around me who might 
also be entitled to a share of the air I breathed.  In fact, according to 
my father (on occasion) and my mother (pretty much always) I was 
one lucky kid to have been allowed to live at all, but rather than 
taking me out completely and possibly face incarceration, they 
ignored me whenever I tried to work out the makeup of our family.  I 
could never quite figure out who was who, and yet in spite of a 
curious nature, I did make it to adulthood without incident.  Basically I 
needed to grow up.  I know this because I often heard my parents 
ǎŀȅΣ άhƘΣ ƎǊƻǿ ǳǇέΗ  !ǎ ȅƻǳ ƳƛƎƘǘ ƘŀǾŜ ŜȄǇŜǊƛŜƴŎŜŘΣ ǇŀǊŜƴǘs and other adult members involved in our 
lives did not talk much to youngsters about heritage, nor were there many conversations about 
ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴǎƘƛǇǎ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǳǎ ŀƴŘ ŀƭƭ ǘƘƻǎŜ ŎƘƛƭŘǊŜƴ ǿƘƻ ƻŦǘŜƴ ǾƛǎƛǘŜŘΦ ¢ƘŜ ƻŦǘ ǳǎŜŘ ǿƻǊŘǎ ǿŜǊŜΣ άŎƘƛƭŘǊŜƴ 
should be seen and ƴƻǘ ƘŜŀǊŘέ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǎ ŀ ŎŀǊŘƛƴŀƭ ǊǳƭŜ ƻŦ ƻǳǊ ƘƻǳǎŜƘƻƭŘΦ 
 
L ŎƻƳŜ ŦǊƻƳ ŀ ǾŜǊȅ ƭŀǊƎŜ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƻƴ Ƴȅ ƳƻǘƘŜǊΩǎ ǎƛŘŜΦ  aȅ ƎǊŀƴŘǇŀǊŜƴǘǎ ό9ƴƎƭƛǎƘκ{ŎƻǘǘƛǎƘύ ƘŀŘ ƳƻǊŜ ǘƘŀƴ 
their share of offspring, with 15 girls and 3 boys, plus a few more who did not survive birth.  They 
married when my grandmother was 13 and grandfather was 38 (yes, 25 years her senior!)  My 
grandfather worked from age 13 to 75 on the railways and the struggle to keep food on the table and 
clothes on their backs must have been extremely difficult.  I was always amazed by the close ties that 
ōƻǳƴŘ Ƴȅ ƳƻǘƘŜǊΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ǘƻƎŜǘƘŜǊ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘŀǾŜ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘ ǊƛƎƘǘ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŜƭŘŜǊ ȅŜŀǊǎΦ  L ƎǊŜǿ ǳǇ ǿƛǘƘ 
gazillion (give or take a few) cousins, and a young aunt who is just two years older than my elder sister.  
We aǊŜ ǎǘƛƭƭ ŀ ǇǊŜǘǘȅ ŎƭƻǎŜ ōǳƴŎƘΣ ōǳǘ L ǿƻƴΩǘ Ǝƻ ŀƴȅ ŦǳǊǘƘŜǊ ǿƛǘƘ ǎƻƳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜƛǊ Ƴƻǎǘ ŦŀǎŎƛƴŀǘƛƴƎ ǎǘƻǊƛŜǎΦ  
There are family members documenting that side of the family already.  My fervent hope will be for the 
finished manual to be light enough to be held on ƻƴŜΩǎ ƭŀǇ ǿƛǘƘƻǳǘ ŦŜŀǊ ƻŦ ƭƻǎƛƴƎ ŎƛǊŎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴΦ  L Ƨǳǎǘ 
ǊŜŎŀƭƭŜŘ ŀ ǎǘƻǊȅ ŀōƻǳǘ ƳƻƳΩǎ ǎƛŘŜ ǘƘŀǘ ƳƛƎƘǘ ǎǘƛǊ ǳǇ ŀ ŎƘǳŎƪƭŜΦ  hǳǊ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƭƛǾŜŘ ƛƴ ŀ ǎƳŀƭƭ ǘƻǿƴ ƴƻǊǘƘ ƻŦ 
9ŘƳƻƴǘƻƴΣ ōǳǘ Ƴƻǎǘ ƻŦ Ƴȅ ƳƻǘƘŜǊΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƭƛǾŜŘ ƛƴ {ŀǎƪŀǘƻƻƴΦ  !ǘ ǘŜƴ ȅŜŀǊǎ ƻŦ ŀƎŜΣ L ǿŀǎ ŀƭǿŀȅǎ asking 
questions, and most especially at times when we were in the midst of all those relatives who apparently 
did not require advance notice.  I recall one occasion where I woke up to find wall to wall people.  Two 
couples with 12 children between them had arrived some time during the night and while the parents 
slept out in their small tent trailers, the children were spread out over the living room heel to head.  
There was no way I could follow the injunction to remain silent in the presence of adults.  Of course I had 
ǘƻ ǿŀƪŜ Ƴȅ ǇŀǊŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ ƭŜǘ ǘƘŜƳ ƪƴƻǿ ǿŜΩŘ ōŜŜƴ ƛƴǾŀŘŜŘ ƻƴƭȅ ǘƻ ōŜ ǘƻƭŘ ǘƻ Ǝƻ ōŀŎƪ ǘƻ ōŜŘΣ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ƻƪΗ  
My need was great to understand just who these visitors were, how we might be related, why I looked 
like a few of them.  I waited in vain as I watched them gradually wake up with the same puzzled looks.   
 
Once on a visit to Saskatoon, my mother became quite exasperated with my constant questions and in 
frustration told me that I was probably related to someone on every street in that city.  I took the 
opportunity to confirm this when I was sent to buy bread and milk at a nearby corner store.  On the way 
ōŀŎƪ ǘƻ Ƴȅ ŀǳƴǘΩǎ ƘƻƳŜΣ ƻƴŜ ǎǘǊŜŜǘ ƻǾŜǊΣ L ƘŀǇǇŜƴŜŘ ǘƻ ǿŀƭƪ Ǉŀǎǘ ŀ ƴŜƛƎƘōƻǳǊ ǿƘƻ ƘŀŘ Ƨǳǎǘ ǎǘƻǇǇŜŘ Ƙƛǎ 
lawnmower to clean it.  I called out tƻ ƘƛƳ ŀƴŘ ŀǎƪŜŘΣ άIŜȅ aƛǎǘŜǊΣ ŀǊŜ ǿŜ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘΚέ  IŜ ǎŀƛŘ ƘŜ ŘƛŘƴΩǘ 
ƪƴƻǿΣ ōǳǘ ŀǎƪŜŘ ǿƘŜǊŜ L ƘŀŘ ŎƻƳŜ ŦǊƻƳΦ  L ǘƻƭŘ ƘƛƳ L ŎŀƳŜ ŦǊƻƳ Ƴȅ !ǳƴǘȅ 9ƭŜŀƴƻǊΩǎ ƘƻǳǎŜ ƻƴ !ǾŜƴǳŜ L 
bƻǊǘƘΦ  IŜ ǎŀƛŘΣ ά¸ǳǇΣ ǎƘŜΩǎ Ƴȅ ǎƛǎǘŜǊ-in-ƭŀǿέΦ   {ƻ ǘƻ ǘƘƻǎŜ ƻŦ ȅƻǳ ǿƘƻ ŀǊŜ ŦǊƻƳ {ŀǎƪŀǘƻƻn we might be 
ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘΣ ǎƻ ƭŜǘΩǎ ǘŀƭƪΗ   
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Just to give you an idea of how my own interest came about, I have to explain something. I married a 
Canadian sailor.  The Navy, to my way of thinking, meant Naval Ships.  But we were at bases and stations 
where the ƻƴƭȅ ǎƘƛǇǎ ǿŜǊŜ ƭƻŎŀƭ ŦƛǎƘƛƴƎ ǾŜǎǎŜƭǎ ƻǊ .ƻǎǘƻƴ ²ƘŀƭŜǊǎΦ  aȅ ƳŀǘŜ ǿŀǎ ŀ άŘǊȅ ƭŀƴŘ ǎŀƛƭƻǊέ ǿƘƻ 
was posted to exotic places such as Inuvik NWT (8 yrs), Masset QCI (5 yrs), Bermuda (if lucky), Ottawa, 
Alert (up by Santa) and other spots.  But we had one exchange tour of duty to San Diego, California.  
¢ƘŜǊŜΩǎ ƴƻ ƭƛŦŜ ƭƛƪŜ ƛǘ ŀƴŘ ƛŦ ȅƻǳ ŀǊŜ ŀ ȅƻǳƴƎ ƳƻǘƘŜǊ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭƭȅ ŦǊƻƳ ŀ ǾŜǊȅ ǎƳŀƭƭ ŎƻƳƳǳƴƛǘȅΣ ƛǘ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǎ 
ǎƻƳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ōŜǎǘ ƻŦ ƭƛŦŜΩǎ ƭŜǎǎƻƴǎ ǇƻǎǎƛōƭŜΦ  L ƭŜŀǊƴŜŘ ǘƻ ƭƛƪŜ Ƴǳƪǘǳƪ ŀƴŘ ōŀƴƴƻŎƪΣ !ǊŎǘƛŎ /ƘŀǊΣ ƭƻǿ ōǳǎƘ 
(literally along the ground) blueberries that took an hour to pick but a week to remove debris and clean 
before making syrup, and how igloos are built along with personally engaging in ice sculpturing (at 50 
below) and I am not kidding.   
 
Anyway, while sǘŀǘƛƻƴŜŘ ƛƴ {ŀƴ 5ƛŜƎƻΣ L ŘƛŘƴΩǘ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƎǊŜŜƴ ŎŀǊŘ ǎƻ ǿŀǎ ǳƴŀōƭŜ ǘƻ ǿƻǊƪ ƻǳǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƘƻƳŜΣ 
but I was never idle.  A friend talked me into working from home by sewing personally designed bikinis 
for wealthy women.  Let me tell you, when you have had an opportunity to make a bikini to fit size 18 
top with a size 6 bottom, it truly becomes an interesting topic of discussion at a party.   
 
It was during this two year tour that something completely unexplainable occurred to cement in my 
mind a need to find out morŜ ŀōƻǳǘ Ƴȅ ŘŀŘΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΦ  Lƴ ƳƛŘ-August 1971, while stationed in San Diego, 
our four year old son had a new friend whose name was Guy.  The boy was the same age and, as we 
discovered later, held exactly the same views as our son.  He was always around.  They played well 
together, but the only problem was he was invisible!  This was not discovered until the day I was about 
to sit down for dinner and my son yelled at me to watch out!  I was apparently about to sit on his friend.  
²Ŝ ŘŜŎƛŘŜŘ ǘƻ άǇƭŀȅ ŀƭƻƴƎέ ōȅ ǇŜǊƳƛǘǘƛƴƎ ŦǊŜŜŘƻƳ ƻŦ ŜȄǇǊŜǎǎƛƻƴ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ōƻȅΩǎ ƛƳŀƎƛƴŀǊȅ ǇŀƭΦ  {ŜǘǘƛƴƎ ŀƴ 
ŜȄǘǊŀ ǇƭŀŎŜ ŦƻǊ Dǳȅ ǿŀǎ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘΣ ƳŀƪƛƴƎ ǎǳǊŜ ǘƘŜǊŜ ǿŀǎ ŜƴƻǳƎƘ άŎŀƴŘȅέ ŦƻǊ Dǳȅ όǿƘƛŎƘ L ŦŜƭǘ ǎǳǊŜ ǿŀǎ 
contrived by our very intelligent son) and on it went.  We took our situation to a doctor who gave us 
assurance this was just a phase that if we allowed our son to keep his imaginary friend and not make it a 
ōƛƎ ŘŜŀƭ ǘƘŀǘ ŀǘ ǎƻƳŜ Ǉƻƛƴǘ ƻǳǊ ǎƻƴ ǿƻǳƭŘ άƻǳǘƎǊƻǿέ Ƙƛǎ ōǳŘŘȅ ŀƴŘ ƭƛŦŜ ǿƻǳƭŘ ǊŜǘǳǊƴ ǘƻ ƴƻǊƳŀƭΦ  L Ƴǳǎǘ 
admit I did consider Valium but was unable to procure any because our family was about to increase 
with a new baby girl, with dual citizenship. 
 
²Ŝ ƭŜŦǘ {ŀƴ 5ƛŜƎƻ ŦƻǊ aŀǎǎŜǘ όƴƻǿ IŀƛŘŀ DΩǿŀƛƛύ ƛƴ мфтмΣ ǿƛǘƘ Dǳȅ ƴƻ ƭƻƴƎŜǊ ƴŜŜŘŜŘΣ ǎƛƴŎŜ ƻǳǊ ǎƻƴ ƘŀŘ 
other interests, such as followiƴƎ ǳǇ ƻƴ Ƙƛǎ ǳƴŎƭŜΩǎ ǎǳƎƎŜǎǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘ ǘŀŘǇƻƭŜǎ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘŜ ŎƻǳƭŘ ǎŜƭƭ ŦƻǊ 
a nickel each, unless they were dead, which unfortunately was the result of putting them in a cardboard 
box under his bed. 
 
Fast forward to 1991 and we were living in Abbotsford, working and enjoying a good life with a teenage 
daughter and the son, both of whom are involved with their own plans and except for provision of food, 
drink, money from dad and mom, and hopefully a car of their own choosing, just preparing themselves 
for whatever life brings.  We have become our parents with a fairly clear understanding of the circle of 
life.  As our parents grew older, we would ask the same kinds of questions.  The difference was they 
ŘƛŘƴΩǘ ōǊǳǎƘ ǳǎ ƻŦŦΗ  L ǎǇŜƴǘ ǘƛƳŜ ǿƛǘƘ Ƴȅ 5ŀŘ ǘŀƭƪƛƴƎ ŀbout the good old days when he rode the rails 
between two countries, his time in the military serving overseas and in Alaska.  I spent happy moments 
with my aunts and uncles reviving family stories, but it was different.  They had the time and interest in 
passing their memories on to us and we were patient in listening to them.  It was simply time for me to 
sit down to my computer and figure out how to gather family history to pass along to my children, who 
ǿƻǳƭŘ ƘƻǇŜŦǳƭƭȅ ǇƛŎƪ ǳǇ ǘƘŜ ŎƘŀƭƭŜƴƎŜ ƻƴŎŜ ǘƘŜȅΩŘ ƎǊŀŘǳŀǘŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ άŎŜƴǘǊŜέ ƻŦ ǘƘŜƛǊ ǳƴƛǾŜǊǎŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ 
ǇŜǊƛƳŜǘŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ άŎƛǊŎƭŜ ƻŦ ƭƛŦŜέΦ   
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The incident happened during my first ever venture into the world of genealogy.  I was working on my 
computer at two a.m. one morning while the house was still and qǳƛŜǘΦ  LΩƳ ǎǳǊŜ L ƘŜŀǊŘ ŀ ŘŜǘŜǎǘŜŘ 
ǎǇƛŘŜǊ ǿŀƭƪƛƴƎ ŀŎǊƻǎǎ ǘƘŜ ŎŀǊǇŜǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƴŜȄǘ ǊƻƻƳΣ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ǎƻ ǎƛƭŜƴǘΦ  ¢Ƙŀƴƪǎ ǘƻ Ƴȅ ǳƴŎƭŜΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎŜǎ 
ƻōǘŀƛƴŜŘ ƛƴ ǿǊƛǘƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ǾŀǊƛƻǳǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘƻǳǘ ǘƘŜ ¦Φ{ΦΣ Ƴȅ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ŀƴŎŜǎǘǊȅ ǿŀǎ ŦƻǳƴŘ ǘƻ 
be fairly easy to follow.  I discovered many of the original family were still in the eastern states, around 
Massachusetts where they had a dairy farm.  According to records obtained by my uncle, there were 
approximately 150 births attributed to the dairy farm family connection.  This has not been confirmed by 
me, but our uncle did speak about the family on the farm who believed in emancipation of slaves and 
who went on to help many to safety and freedom.  Many of these people decided to remain working on 
the original farm, although they were quite free to leave, stay, go to schools, encouraged to become part 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΣ ōǳǘ ǘŀƪŜ ǿƘŀǘŜǾŜǊ ƻǇǇƻǊǘǳƴƛǘƛŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǎǳƛǘŜŘ ǘƘŜƳΦ  !ǘ ƻƴŜ ǇƻƛƴǘΣ Ƴȅ ŘŀŘΩǎ ōǊƻǘƘŜǊ ǿŀǎ 
travelling and while passing through a town would always checƪ ǘƘŜ ǇƘƻƴŜ ōƻƻƪǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƳƻǘŜƭǎ ƘŜΩŘ ǎǘŀȅ 
in to see if he could find people with the same last name.  He mostly wrote to these folks to find out 
whether there was a connection, but he once located someone in Spokane and was encouraged to drop 
by and meet the family as he was not staying overnight.  He accepted the invitation and when he arrived 
at the home and knocked on the door was taken by surprise when the gentleman who answered was a 
very tall man of colour!  My uncle, never one to hesitate in his love for a good chance to make people 
ƭŀǳƎƘΣ ǎŀƛŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŦŜƭƭƻǿΣ ά¸ƻǳ ŀǊŜ ǘƘŜ ǎǇƛǘǘƛƴƎ ƛƳŀƎŜ ƻŦ ƻǳǊ ŘŀŘΗέ  IŜ ƘŀŘ ŀ ƎǊŜŀǘ Ǿƛǎƛǘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ 
and continued correspondence with these folks.  Through that connection he discovered that their 
original family had been among the first to be spirited away via trains from the south to live and work on 
the farm in Roxbury.  His father had been given an education and became a teacher for children of other 
families who were seeking a better life. 
 
Having gone astray from my point of this story, I bring you back to the quiet time being spent on my 
ŎƻƳǇǳǘŜǊ ǿƘŜǊŜ LΩƳ ƎƭŜŀƴƛƴƎ ƳǳŎƘ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ŀōƻǳǘ ŘŀŘΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΦ  L ƘŀǾŜ ǘƻ ǎǘŀǘŜΣ L ŀƳ ƴƻǘ ǇǊƻƴŜ ǘƻ 
fantasy.  I have never believed in the dark side of supernatural beings, ghosts, goblins, vampires or 
ŀƴȅǘƘƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ƎƻŜǎ άōǳƳǇέ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƴƛƎƘǘ όǳƴƭŜǎǎ ƛǘ ƛǎ ŀ ƘŜŀǾȅ ǎǇƛŘŜǊύΦ LΩƳ ƘŀǇǇƛƭȅ ǊŜŀŘƛƴƎ ŀōƻǳǘ ǘƘŜ 
ancestors in our attic, people with whom we are related by blood.  I came across one several greats 
removed aunt and uncle who had nine children. Several of these babies had died during childbirth, which 
happened fairly often, but one child in particular, actually made the hair on my neck rise.  A boy, aged 5, 
born 13 August 1856 died in an unexplained manner, on 15 August 1861.  His name was Guy!  I am 
ǎƛǘǘƛƴƎ ƛƴ Ƴȅ ōŀǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƪƴƻǿƭŜŘƎŜ ǘƘŀǘ ŀƭƳƻǎǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŘŀȅΣ ƻƴŜ ƘǳƴŘǊŜŘ ȅŜŀǊǎ ŀŦǘŜǊ DǳȅΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘ 
my son has a new friend who is invisible to all but our son, whose name just happened to be Guy. 
 
This really brought me to a point wƘŜǊŜ L ŀŎǘǳŀƭƭȅ ōŜŎŀƳŜ ŜȄŎƛǘŜŘ ŀōƻǳǘ ƻǳǊ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΩǎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊȅΦ  {ƛƴŎŜ ǘƘŀǘ 
strange night I have gathered much data, but until I joined the Genealogical Society in Medicine Hat, I 
ƘŀŘƴΩǘ ǊŜŀƭƭȅ ǳƴŘŜǊǎǘƻƻŘ Ƙƻǿ ǘƻ ŎƻƭƭŀǘŜ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜƴ ǇǳǘǘƛƴƎ ǘƘƛǎ Řŀǘa together in a cohesive 
manner.  What is important for me is to pass along to my children a desire to explore the past even as 
we contemplate our future.  My father was born in Medicine Hat in 1911 and the rest of his siblings 
(another son and three daughters) all born in Medicine Hat.  They lived here until 1922 when 
Grandfather RALPH GRIGGS decided to homestead in CARROT CREEK, AB.  My grandfather was, 
according to family, the first stationary engineer to work at the new Olgilvie Mill, which I understand was 
built in 1906.  I tried searching for proof of his employment from the ADM company, which recently 
advised of a move to Calgary.  Their reply was that no records had been maintained and I need to look 
elsewhere.  I also hope to find information about my grandmother, who was employed at the hospital 
ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘƻǎŜ ȅŜŀǊǎΦ  ²Ŝ ǿŜǊŜ ƻŦǘŜƴ ǘƻƭŘ ŀōƻǳǘ ƻǳǊ ŘŀŘΩǎ ƪŜŜƴ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƳƻǾƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ L Ŏŀƴ ƻƴƭȅ 
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ǎǳǊƳƛǎŜ ǘƘŜ aƻƴŀǊŎƘ ¢ƘŜŀǘǊŜ ǿƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ǿƘŜǊŜ ƘŜ ǎǇŜƴǘ ƳǳŎƘ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ ŦǊŜŜ ǘƛƳŜΦ  ²Ŝ ŀǊŜƴΩǘ ǎǳǊŜΣ ōǳǘ 
believe they lived in the tent city until housing was available, but these beliefs came from family 
discussions and have not as yet been proven.   
 

hƴŜ ƻǘƘŜǊ ǘƛŘōƛǘ L Ŏŀƴ ǎƘŀǊŜ ƛǎ ǘƘŀǘ ƻǳǊ ǇŀǊŜƴǘǎ ŎƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ƛƴ wƛǇƭŜȅΩǎ .ŜƭƛŜǾŜ Lǘ hǊ bƻǘΣ ŀŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜƛǊ 
researchers.  aȅ ƳƻƳ όǿƛǘƘ 5ŀŘΩǎ ƘŜƭǇύ ƘŀŘ ǘƘǊŜŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŎƘƛƭŘǊŜƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƳŜ ƳƻƴǘƘ ŀƴŘ Řŀȅ ōǳǘ 
different years.  My sister Sharon, our young brother, and I all share a birthdate of November 10, with 6 
and 4 years difference in ages.  Google research indicates the odds of this happening to the same couple 
is 50 million to 1.  Our combined birthday parties were terrific until my sister who became a teenager 
decided the birthday games they would take part in absolutely did not include her younger sister and her 
friends ǿƘƻ ǿŜǊŜ ǎǘƛƭƭ άƪƛŘǎέΦ  hŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ L ŎŀǳƎƘǘ ǳǇ ŀƴŘ ƻƴŎŜ ŀƎŀƛƴ ǿŜ ŜƴƧƻȅ ǎƛƳƛƭŀǊ ƎŀƳŜǎΦ  {ŎǊŀōōƭŜ ƛǎ 
always a favourite. 
 

So, since being part of the Medicine Hat Genealogical Society, and with this invitation to share some of 
Ƴȅ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΩǎ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ ƘƛǎǘƻǊȅΣ L ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŎƻƳŜ ƳƻǊŜ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘŜŘ ƛƴ ƻǊƎŀƴƛȊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎŎǊŀǇǎ ƻŦ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ L 
carry in my brain and in odd boxes throughout the house.  I balked at writing just this bit of family lore, 
ōǳǘ L Ŏŀƴ ǳƴŘŜǊǎǘŀƴŘ Ƙƻǿ ƛǘ ƳƛƎƘǘ ƭŜŀŘ ǘƻ ŀ ŦƛƴŘƛƴƎ ōƛƎƎŜǊ ōƻȄŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŎŀǘŀƭƻƎǳƛƴƎ ǿƘŀǘΩǎ ǿƛǘƘƛƴΦ  tŜǊƘŀǇǎ 
one of our future relatives will pick up the challenge of continuing the story with the due diligence I now 
ǊŜŀƭƛȊŜ Ƴǳǎǘ ōŜ ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘŜŘΦ  tŜǊƘŀǇǎ ǘΩǿƛƭƭ ǎŜǊǾŜ ǘƻ ŀǾƻƛŘ ŀƴȅ ǇƻǎǎƛōƭŜ άǾƛǎƛǘŀǘƛƻƴέ ŦǊƻƳ ƘǳƴŘǊŜŘ ȅŜŀǊ ƻƭŘ 
ghosts? 
 

{ƛƴŎŜǊŜ ōŜǎǘ ǿƛǎƘŜǎ ŀǎ ȅƻǳ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘ ȅƻǳǊ ƻǿƴ άƘŀǳƴǘέ ς Kathleen Tarabas ς May 7, 2013   
   

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

I started out calmly tracing my tree  
To find, if I could, the making of me  

And all that I had was Great Grandfather's name  

Not knowing his wife or which way he came.  
 

I chased him across a long line of states  

And came up with pages and pages of dates  
When all put together it made me forlorn  

I'd proved poor Great Grandpa had never been born.  
   

One day I was sure the truth I had found  

Determined to turn this whole thing upside down  
I looked up the records of one Uncle Jo hn  

But then found the old man to be younger than his son.  
 

Then when my hopes were fast growing dim  
I came across records that must have been him  

The facts I collected then made me quite sad  
Dear ol' Great Grandfather was never a dad.  

   

I think maybe someone is pulling my leg  
I'm not at all sure I wasn't hatched from an egg  

After hundreds of dollars I've spent on my tree  
I can't help but wonder if I'm really me?  

-Anon.  
 

(Submitted by Leanne Balfour)  
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Get By With a Little Help From Your Friendsé 
By Leanne Balfour 

 
Quite often in genealogy we get stumped on something that we really need to solve in order to move 
forward.  Rather than setting it aside and feeling defeated, try to approach your problem by bringing it 
to your genealogical group or a connŜŎǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ ȅƻǳΩǾŜ ƳŀŘŜΦ  {ƻƳŜǘƛƳŜǎ ŀƭƭ ǘƘŀǘΩǎ ƴŜŜŘŜŘ ƛǎ ŀ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴǘ 
set of eyes to look at the problem ς someone else may know another resource, or work from a different 
angle with a resource that can boost you over that brick wall in no time! 
 

I received a  request from Cindy Schmidt 
Deeter in Ohio: 
I thought I would test your abilities to 
unscramble a name this morning. I've 
attached a photograph of a signature that I 
cannot figure out. Her name was Ida H. 
Davis ς Bills - Miller; this would have been 
her 3rd marriage. She has been a brick wall 
ŦƻǊ ƳŜΦ LǘΩǎ ŦǊǳǎǘǊŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ōŜ ǎƻ ŎƭƻǎŜ ǘƻ 
breaking through, and not being able to 
decipher the name. Do you have any 
suggestions? 
 

 

 
LŘŀΩǎ ǎƛƎƴŀǘǳǊŜ ŀǇǇŜŀǊǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ŀōƻǾŜ ƳŀǊǊƛŀƎŜ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴΣ ƎƛǾƛƴƎ ŎƻƴǎŜnt that her 20 year-old son could 
get married.  (As an aside, we are not sure why a 20 year-ƻƭŘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ƴŜŜŘ Ƙƛǎ ƳƻǘƘŜǊΩǎ ŎƻƴǎŜƴǘΦύ  First 
thing I did was search on Ancestry for:  First name: Ida   Surname: *steil (as it was only the last 5 letters I 
was certain of.)  Here is what I found: 
  

1910 ς Moses & Ida Stocksteel ς census - Toledo City, Lucas Co., Ohio - at this point, they have been 
married 8 years - puts marriage date at 1902; she had 2 children, both still living. 
  

1911 ς Toledo, Ohio (Lucas Co.) ς According to the 1911 city directory, Max would be her husband, 
both having the same address.  (Initial assumption that Moses/Max are one in the same.) 
  

1920 ς Max Stocksteel ς census ς Ohio 
1920 ς Ida Stocksteel ς census ς Ohio (following pg.  MaxΩǎ ŜƴǘǊȅ) 
  
1930 ς Max & Ida Stocksteil ς San Fernando Valley, Los Angeles, CA in the city directory 
1930 ς Also in the census 
   

1940 ς In this census, Max Stocksteil is now a widower and a lodger ς but has been indexed under 
Mosco Stockstill (found by searching Max on default, and Stockst* for last name ς love those wildcards 
ς then looking in 1940 census) 
There were also other city directory entries over many years that applied to Max & Ida.  As well, there 
was other information to do with another Moses Stocksteil, but he was married to a Helen.  This had to 
be sifted out. 
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Then on Family Search, there is a Moses Stocksteil/Ida Miller marriage in 1902 ς this ties her to the 
Miller surname, and is the right year to match the 1910 census.  Moses Stockstiel, from Kansas, Mo., and 
Ida Henrietta Miller, from Toledo, Ohio, were married in Michigan.  This marriage record shows that Ida 
had been married two times previously. 
 

After helping Cindy, she was so grateful for this new information, and mentioned that she had heard Ida 
ended up living in California (though I could find no record of her burial there). We are both confident 
ǘƘŀǘ LŘŀ ϧ aŀȄ {ǘƻŎƪǎǘŜƛƭ ŀǊŜ ŜȄŀŎǘƭȅ ǘƘŜ ǊƛƎƘǘ ǇŜƻǇƭŜΧ  aȅ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴ ƛǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǿƘŜƴ LŘŀ ǎƛƎƴŜŘ ǘƘŜ 
above document, she regressed for just a moment to begin writing her previous married name, Miller, 
and then bŜƎŀƴ ŀƎŀƛƴ ǿƛǘƘ {ǘƻŎƪǎǘŜƛƭΦ  ¢ƻ ƳŜΣ ƛǘ ŀǇǇŜŀǊǎ ŀǎ ŀƴ άaέ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ά{έ ǿǊƛǘǘŜƴ ƻǾŜǊǘƻǇΦ 
 

WORDS FOR ALL TIME 
 

ALMA A WEBSTER 
DIED 

Oct 3. 1874 
Æ 22y 7m 

 

!ǿŀȅ ŦǊƻƳ ŜŀǊǘƘΩǎ ŎƻƭŘ ǘŜƳǇŜǎǘ 
{ƘŜΩǎ ƧƻƛƴŜŘ ǘƘŜ ŀƴƎŜƭ ōŀƴŘ 

She treads the distant smiling shore 
The shore of the spirit land 

(Photo courtesy of the Island Pond Historical Society) 

 
Alma Webster was a ǎƛǎǘŜǊ ƻŦ wƻƴΩǎ ƎǊŜŀǘ ƎǊŜŀǘ ƎǊŀƴŘŦŀǘƘŜǊΦ 
She died and was buried in the Old Protestant Cemetery at 
Island Pond, Vermont. 
 

Her letters, from Island Pond, Vermont, to her brother, 
dating from 1871-1873 were passed down through the 
family to us.  I believe they were preserved and passed 
down through the generations as a remembrance of family 
lost.  Sadly, Alma died of typhoid having never married or 
had children to morn or remember her, so we do. 
 

 

Alma A Webster was born Feb 12, 1852 (date calculated from age listed on death record), daughter of 
Waterman Webster and his wife Maria Sarah Carrick, and younger sister of our ancestor Charles 
Webster. 
 

Island Pond (or Brighton as it was also known) was a main border town between Canada and the United 
States, complete with customs offices for both countries.  It was a railroad hub where several railroad 
lines passed through, going to and coming from Canada.  It is situated some 15-16 miles from the 
Canadian border, and at one time had as many as 13 sets of railroad tracks running through it. 
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ELIASSON HEADSTONES - I attended a funeral of an Aunt of mine recently in Punnichy, 

Saskatchewan, and while at St. George Anglican cemetery in the Kutawa District, I came across 
ƘŜŀŘǎǘƻƴŜǎ L ŘƛŘƴΩǘ ƪƴƻǿ ŜȄƛǎǘŜŘ ŦƻǊ ŦƛǾŜ ƻŦ Ƴȅ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ǎƛōƭƛƴƎǎΦ  ¢ƘŜȅ ƘŀŘ ŀƭƭ ŘƛŜŘ ǾŜǊȅ ȅƻǳƴƎΦ  The first 
burial was in 1910, and the first Eliasson buried there was Charles in 1911. My grandparents were 
ŦƻǳƴŘƛƴƎ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ {ǘΦ DŜƻǊƎŜΩǎ !ƴƎƭƛŎŀƴ /ƘǳǊŎƘΣ ŀƴŘ ƛǘ ƛǎ ƻǇŜƴ нп ƘƻǳǊǎ ŀ Řŀȅ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇǳōƭƛŎ ǘƻ ǾƛŜǿΤ 
there is not a care taker present. They have a guest book and history of the church inside. There are 
weddings still performed there. They have never had any vandalism, which I find remarkable.  My father, 
Elias Nicanor Eliasson, was born in 1904 in Dorotea, Vasterbotten, Sweden, and immigrated to Canada 
1908 with his parents, a sister and brother. They arrived in April, and Granny delivered another brother 
for Dad two months later. Dad was the oldest of the 14 children; he remembers sitting up with his 
parents Marten Olaf and Brita Wilhelmina when his siblings were sick, and the hardest one he 
remembers was sƛǘǘƛƴƎ ǳǇ ǿƛǘƘ DƭŀŘȅǎΣ ŀǎ ǘƘŜȅ ƘŀŘ ŀƭǊŜŀŘȅ ƭƻǎǘ ƘŜǊ ǘǿƛƴΦ 5ŀŘΩǎ ǎƛōƭƛƴƎǎ ǿƘƻ ŘƛŜŘ ǿŜǊŜ 
Charles 1910 ς 1911, Nils 1921- 1922, Maria 1924-1924, Gladys 1924-1932, Dorotea 1927-1927.  Their 
first names are not on the 
headstones, only their last.  The cross 
was in with the Eliasson headstones, 
and it is also a mystery to whom the 
flat Eliasson marker belongs.  

 
I just came across this photo (at right) 
and it had the names on the back ς 
Aunt Dorotea is on my Granny 
9ƭƛŀǎǎƻƴΩǎ ƪƴŜŜ ŀƴŘ !ǳƴǘ DƭŀŘȅǎ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ 
little girl in white hat the two older 
ones are my Aunt Teckla and Aunt 
Frieda. (Submitted by Doreen Schank) 
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Memories 
(By Brian Konrad) 

 

Effie Edna Salkeld was my maternal grandfather's sister, which means 
she was my great aunt.  (Photo at right) 
 

I only met her once, that was at my grandfather's funeral and I was 
only 9 years of age.  I remember she was very kind and took an interest 
in my sister and me.  Following the funeral we wrote letters to her.   I 
remember she knitted a pair of woolen slippers for each of us.    
 

She lived with her husband Rae in Gerald, Saskatchewan.  
Unfortunately, Effie passed away in April of 1965, just over three 
months after my grandfather, so I have no further memories of her. 
 

However, she did leave me a treasure.  In 1953 she recorded her 
memories as a small child growing up on my great grandfather's farm 
in Lanark, Ontario.    She recalls the stories she heard her father talk 
about including the arrival from Scotland of the Park family in 1821.  
It's also full of little stories about family memories, prices paid for 
items, the marriage of my great grandparents and the move to 
Fleming, Saskatchewan prior to the turn of the 20th century. 
 

It's a window into the past for me and a priceless piece of my family 
history. 
 

FƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ŀǊŜ ŜȄŎŜǊǇǘǎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ǘǿŜƭǾŜ ǇŀƎŜǎ ƻŦ 9ŦŦƛŜΩǎ ƳŜƳƻǊƛŜǎΧ 
 
 ά¢Ƙƛǎ ƛǎ ǘƻ ōŜ ǘƘŜ ǎǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ Ƴȅ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΣ ǘƘŜ ƻƴŜ ǘƻ ǿƘƛŎƘ L ōŜƭƻƴƎΣ ƴƻǘ ǘƘŜ ƻƴŜ L ōǊƻǳƎƘǘ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƭŘΦ  
Perhaps no one cares about the ancestors dead and gone, but it would be well to take heed of the life 
they helped build in Canada, the best country in the world. 
 

άLƴ мунм ŀ ƎǊƻǳǇ ƻŦ ǎŜǘǘƭŜǊǎ ŀǊǊƛǾŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ {ŎƻǘƭŀƴŘ ƻƴ ŀ ǎŀƛƭƛƴƎ ǾŜǎǎŜƭΦ  ¢ƘŜ ƧƻǳǊƴŜȅ ƻƴ ǿŀǘŜǊ ǘƻƻƪ ǘƘǊŜŜ 
weeks.  Grandmother Park who was then 16, and her name Agnes Duncan, said there was dancing on the 
ship, perhaps courting too, as it could not have been long before she married Joseph Park.  He had his 
loom, and was a weaver by trade.  This company of people were set down in the bush in Dalhousie 
Township on September 30th.  They had not much time to make ready for winter.  When the log homes 
were finshed, they hung a cover of some sort over the door and kept a fire burning all night to keep wild 
animals away.  At first the men made potash and sold it to buy necessary items.  Sugar was dear, also 
tea.  I wish I knew more detail of where they got their first pigs, sheep, cows and seeds to plant.  Perth 
ǘƻǿƴ ǿŀǎ ŦƻǊǘȅ ƳƛƭŜǎ ŀǿŀȅΦ  [ŀƴŀǊƪ ƘŀŘ ƴƻǘ ōŜŎƻƳŜ ŀ ǾƛƭƭŀƎŜΦ  Lǘ ǿŀǎ ƳŀǊƪŜŘ ōȅ ŀ ΨōƭŀȊŜΩ ƻƴ ŀ ǘǊŜŜΦ  ό! 
blaze was a gash cut by an axe.)  After the homes the men built a church.  The first ministers were also 
the singing masters and school teachers.  By stories handed down I do not think the ministers were 
outstanding characters, but there was a strong sense of reverence in these Scottish people.  
DǊŀƴŘƳƻǘƘŜǊ ŀƴŘ DǊŀƴŘŦŀǘƘŜǊ tŀǊƪ ǎŀƴƎ ŀǘ ǿŜŘŘƛƴƎǎ ŀƴŘ ƎŀǘƘŜǊƛƴƎǎ ŀƴŘ ǎŜǊǾŜŘ άǘƻŘŘȅέ ƛƴ ǘƘŜƛǊ ƻǿƴ 
home to friends.  These are the names of their family: 
 

James ς who went to Sarnia to live and married. 
May ς Mrs. Gavin 
Mary ς Mrs. Davy McIntosh 




